1989

LMV Leasing Inc. v. Roy W. Mallory, Val Conlin, Barbara Conlin, Tubber T. Okuda, Mary Y. Okuda : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

INTRODUCTION

Plaintiff, LMV Leasing Inc., a Pennsylvania corporation is the respondent in this action. It will be referred to as plaintiff in this brief.

Appellants are the defendants Val C. Conlin, Barbara Conlin, Tubber T. Okuda and Mary Okuda. Unless otherwise specified, the word, defendants will refer to the four appellants in this brief.

The agreement upon which this action was initiated provides that the action will be brought in Pennsylvania and

Pennsylvania law will govern the contract. However, since plaintiff initiated the action here in Utah and has relied on Utah law throughout the proceedings, defendants contend that the plaintiff has waived its right to interpretation of the transaction under Pennsylvania law.

JURISDICTION

This appeal is taken to the Utah Supreme Court by defendants Okudas and Conlins pursuant to Section 78-2-2(3)(j), Utah Code Annotated, 1953 as amended. Since the filing of the Notice of Appeal, the Utah Supreme Court has assigned this appeal to the Utah Court of Appeals pursuant to Rule 4A, Rules of the Utah Supreme Court. This appeal is further filed pursuant to Rules 3(a) and 4(a), Rules of the Utah Court of Appeals and pursuant to Rule 54(b), Utah Rules of Civil Procedure.

Defendants appeal the summary judgment granted plaintiff by the trial court on the issues pertaining to liability. Defendants further appeal the trial court's order that the issues of damages and attorneys' fees be submitted by affidavit without trial or hearing.

The defendants further appeal the issue of the propriety of the damages and attorneys' fee awarded by the trial court.

NATURE OF PROCEEDINGS

Defendants were sued as guarantors of a transaction which is referred to as a Preferred Vehicle Lease Agreement. Plaintiff a Pennsylvania corporation, provided automobile financing to M.C.O., Inc., a Utah corporation, doing business as American

International Rent-A-Car. M.C.O., Inc. defaulted in making the agreed payments under the contracts. The vehicles were repossessed by plaintiff approximately March 11, 1988, (RA 06, para. 21) and sold for plaintiff by Nate Wade Subaru, a new and used car dealer in Salt Lake City, Utah. Plaintiff initiated this action to recover damages pursuant to the contract which plaintiff contends is a true lease. Thus plaintiff sought to recover damages as outlined in the document, namely the total of all lease payments less interest of 6 percent for the remaining term less the net sales proceed of the vehicles.

Defendants contend that the contract was a security agreement which is governed by the Utah Uniform Commercial Code and provisions relating to secured transactions. (Sections 70A-9-504, 70A-9-506, 70A-9-507, Utah Code Annotated, 1953, as amended.) Thus, defendants contend that the plaintiff is estopped from seeking a deficiency judgment because the collateral was not sold in a commercially reasonable manner. Even if the contract was not a security agreement, the contract specifies that plaintiff will dispose of the vehicles in a commercially reasonable manner and defendants contend that plaintiff failed to meet this requirement.

Defendants further contend that plaintiff did not mitigate its damages or make any effort to mitigate its damages and should, therefore, be estopped from seeking further damages because plaintiff could have avoided all loss had plaintiff made a good-faith effort to mitigate its damages.

Also defendants claim that plaintiff impaired the

collateral and is barred from seeking damages.

Plaintiff obtained a summary judgment on the issue of liability. Subsequently, the trial court, by telephone conference, directed the parties to submit their "positions" on damages by affidavit and memorandum. Defendants objected to plaintiff's attorney's affidavit on attorneys' fees because of the failure to state the hourly rate at which the four (4) attorneys rendered services to plaintiff on this case. Defendants moved to strike the affidavit. The trial court denied defendants motion. The trial court, thereafter, awarded damages and attorney's fees without a hearing or trial.

Defendants filed a cross-claim against Roy Mallory. The cross-claim was stayed because Roy Mallory filed for relief under Chapter 7 of the Bankruptcy Code. He was later discharged from the obligations referred to in the cross-claim.

Defendants also filed a third party complaint against Maureen Mallory. She has submitted a motion to bifurcate which awaits the trial court's ruling.

The trial court entered judgment as a final judgment pursuant to Rule 54(b), Utah Rules of Civil Procedure.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR APPEAL

- I. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN GRANTING SUMMARY JUDGMENT ON LIABILITY WITHOUT RESOLVING THE FACTUAL ISSUE OF WHETHER THE TRANSACTION WAS A LEASE OR A SECURITY AGREEMENT?

II. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN GRANTING SUMMARY JUDGMENT WITHOUT RESOLVING THE FACTUAL ISSUE OF WHETHER THE VEHICLES WERE DISPOSED OF IN A COMMERCIALLY REASONABLE MANNER PURSUANT TO SECTION 70A-9-504(3), UTAH CODE ANNOTATED, 1953, AS AMENDED.

III. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN GRANTING SUMMARY JUDGMENT WITHOUT RESOLVING THE FACTUAL ISSUE OF WHETHER THE VEHICLES WERE SOLD IN A COMMERCIALLY REASONABLE MANNER AS REQUIRED BY THE AGREEMENT ?

IV. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN GRANTING JUDGMENT AND IN AWARDING DAMAGES WITHOUT RESOLVING THE FACTUAL ISSUE OF WHETHER THE PLAINTIFF IMPAIRED THE COLLATERAL TO DEFENDANTS' DETRIMENT?

V. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN GRANTING SUMMARY JUDGMENT WITHOUT RESOLVING THE FACTUAL ISSUE AS TO WHETHER PLAINTIFF FAILED TO MITIGATE ITS DAMAGES?

VI. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN DIRECTING THE PARTIES TO SUBMIT THEIR POSITIONS ON DAMAGES AND ATTORNEYS' FEES ON AFFIDAVITS AND MEMORANDUMS?

VII. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN AWARDING ATTORNEYS' FEES ?

CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS, STATUTES AND RULES

1. Article I, Sec. 7, Constitution of Utah.
2. Section 78-2-2(3)(j), Utah Code Annotated, 1953, as amended.
3. Section 70A-9-504(3), Utah Code Annotated, 1953, as amended.
4. Rule 4-501(5), Utah Code of Judicial Administration.
5. Rule 4-505(1), Utah Code of Judicial Administration.
6. Rule 54(b), Utah Rules of Civil Procedure.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature of the Case:

This is an action for recovery of damages for breach of a contract entitled Preferred Vehicle Lease Agreement which was prepared by plaintiff. (RA 13). Plaintiff seeks to recover damages pursuant to the provisions in the agreement. (RA 23, para. 18.2).

The defendants personally guaranteed performance of the agreement in the event the primary obligor, M.C.O., Inc. defaulted in its performance. (RA 111, 113).

Defendants defend on the basis that the plaintiff should not be permitted to seek damages because the contract is a security agreement which is governed by the Uniform Commercial Code and the plaintiff failed to comply with the requirement that the collateral be disposed of in a commercially reasonable manner.

Even if the contract is deemed a lease, the provisions of the document provide that the vehicles will be disposed of in

a commercially reasonable manner and defendants contend that the plaintiff failed to comply with this provision.

Defendants also assert that the plaintiff failed to mitigate its damages and is, therefore, estopped from seeking damages or should not be awarded the damages that are claimed.

Finally, defendant contends that the plaintiff permitted the impairment of the collateral and is estopped from seeking damages against the defendants. (RA 379-390)

Procedural issues relate to the propriety of the summary judgment granted on the issue of liability, to the trial court's order that issues pertaining to damages and attorneys' fees be submitted by affidavit and memorandum, and to the propriety of the award of attorneys' fee.

Course of Proceedings:

Plaintiff was granted summary judgment on the issue of liability. (RA 473, 474-477). Thereafter, the parties were directed by the trial court to simultaneously submit affidavits and memorandums on damages and attorneys' fees by a date certain. The trial court did not request nor obtain the defendants stipulation to proceed on affidavits and memorandums. Defendants objected to plaintiff's attorney's affidavit for attorneys' fees and moved to strike the affidavit because of its deficiency in failing to state the rate of the hourly charges used by four (4) attorneys. (RA 531). Defendants' motion was denied. (RA 550, 551).

Disposition:

The trial court, thereafter, by telephone conference,

discussed his observations on the damage issues and rendered judgment awarding plaintiff damages and attorneys' fees. Defendants appealed from that judgment.

Relevant Facts:

The Defendants Conlin and Okuda, together with Roy Mallory, initiated an auto rental agency under the name of M.C.O., Inc., doing business under the assumed name of American International Rent-A-Car. The American International name was used pursuant to a franchise or license agreement with the national company.

The Plaintiff, LMV Leasing, Inc., provided financing for some of the vehicles which M.C.O., Inc., used as its fleet of rental automobiles. The document which the parties utilized to transact their business is entitled Preferred Vehicle Lease Agreement. (RA 13). However, certain verbiage in the lease document suggests that the transactions may, in fact, have been intended as a security agreement, governed by the Uniform Commercial Code. For example, provisions for default reflect an express agreement by Plaintiff to dispose of the vehicles in a commercially reasonable manner which is the Utah Uniform Commercial Code requirement for disposal of collateral in a secured transaction. (RA 23, para. 19). Equally suggestive of a security agreement is verbiage to the effect that Defendants will be paid any excess from sales proceeds of the vehicle, if there is an excess. (RA 24, para. 19).

The Defendants Conlin and Okuda and their wives signed guaranty agreements with Plaintiff to guaranty payment in the event

of M.C.O., Inc.'s default. (RA 111, 113).

The guaranty agreement, also provided by Plaintiff, does not contain verbiage whereby the Defendants waive their right to notices of default nor does it contain verbiage by which the Defendants waive their defense of collateral impairment.

In May, 1987, the principal shareholders and incorporators of M.C.O., Inc., became embroiled in internal conflict which resulted in a claimed "repossession" of the entire business of M.C.O., Inc., by Roy Mallory, an incorporator, officer, director and a creditor of M.C.O., Inc. A state court action ensued and eventually, in August of 1987, Roy W. Mallory, one of the Defendants in this action, but not a party to this appeal, filed a petition in the Bankruptcy Court under Chapter 11 of the Bankruptcy Code to forestall the state court action. The Chapter 11 petition was eventually converted to a Chapter 7 proceeding by application of the U. S. Trustee. (RA 387-390).

In December of 1987, before the vehicles were repossessed by Plaintiff, the Defendants Okuda and Conlin, together with the attorney for M C.O., Inc. bankruptcy, Loren E. Weiss, conveyed to Plaintiff's attorney in Salt Lake City, Utah, a proposal from one Alma Demar Egbert who offered to either assume the M.C.O., Inc. agreement with LMV Leasing or purchase the vehicles in question, in place, at the American International premises because Egbert had obtained the rights to the American International franchise after M.C.O., Inc., defaulted in the franchise payments. Plaintiff did not respond to the offer nor did Plaintiff communicate any ac-

knowledge of the offer. (RA 283-288).

Approximately March 11, 1988, the Plaintiff took possession of the vehicles it had provided financing for M.C.O., Inc., and the vehicles were placed with Nate Wade Subaru, a local new and used car dealer, to be sold for Plaintiff. (RA 328).

The "Notice of Sale" states that cars will be sold after April 13, 1988, at the Nate Wade Subaru lot "and will be sold in the same manner and fashion as other used vehicles located at Nate Wade Subaru." (RA 328).

All of the repossessed vehicles were sold between May 10 and June 10, 1988. (RA 326, para. 11).

Plaintiff initiated this action in April of 1988, seeking damages for breach of the lease agreement. Defendants Okudas and Conlins were named as defendants because of their personal guarantees.

Defendants Okudas and Conlins claimed, as part of their defense, that Plaintiff permitted the impairment of the collateral after default, that Plaintiff failed to mitigate its damages, and further that the disposal of the vehicles was not done in a commercially reasonable manner and, therefore, Plaintiff should not be permitted to recover for the alleged damages. (RA 379).

In August, 1988, Plaintiff moved for Summary Judgment on the issues of liability and damages. (RA 242). Defendants Okudas and Conlins resisted on the basis that material issues of fact remained to be litigated as to Plaintiff's failure to mitigate damages, as to whether the transaction was a lease or a security

agreement subject to the Utah Uniform Commercial Code, as to the Plaintiff's failure to dispose of the vehicles in a commercially reasonable manner, and as to the issue of damages and mitigation of damages. (RA 278, 396). The trial court, after oral argument on the 13th day of October, 1988, denied Plaintiff's Motion for Summary Judgment. (RA 402).

The Defendants filed cross-claims and third party complaints against Roy W. Mallory and Maureen Mallory. Roy W. Mallory filed a petition in bankruptcy under Chapter 7 of the Bankruptcy Code and, therefore, the Plaintiff's claim and Defendants Okuda and Conlin's cross-claim against Roy W. Mallory were stayed. (RA 412).

Maureen Mallory moved for bifurcation of the third party action and awaits the trial court's decision on bifurcation.

On the 13th day of February, 1989, Plaintiff moved for Summary Judgment as to liability only. (RA 448). This subsequent motion was submitted pursuant to Rule 4-501, Utah Code of Judicial Administration. Plaintiff submitted the Affidavit of Edward T. McCracken dated August 4, 1988, which had been submitted with Plaintiff's earlier motion for summary judgment. (RA 250, 423).

The McCracken affidavits do not state whether the vehicles were advertised for sale as the other used cars of Nate Wade Subaru are advertised; it does not state who was invited to bid; it does not state whether the cars were sold to the highest bidder; it does not state that the sales prices were within acceptable range of similar vehicles sold in Salt Lake City. (Compare RA 250, 323, 423). The McCracken affidavits do not rebut the Affidavit of

Alma Demar Egbert to the effect that an offer was made in December of 1987 to assume the auto leases or to purchase the vehicles, in place, at the American International business premises since Egbert had assumed the American International franchise. (RA 283). No other opposing affidavits were submitted to rebut Egbert's affidavit.

The Affidavit of Ivar Blackner, who was acting in behalf of Defendants, to the effect that he was denied the right on three (3) separate occasions to inspect the vehicles in anticipation of submitting bids remains unopposed. (RA 393 Affidavit of Blackner).

Loren E. Weiss, attorney for M.C.O., Inc., in its bankruptcy proceedings, submitted an affidavit stating he personally communicated to plaintiff's attorney, Wes Harris of Watkiss & Campbell, an offer by Egbert to purchase or lease, in place, all of the vehicles plaintiff provided to M.C.O., Inc. Mr. Weiss further states that neither he nor M.C.O., Inc., received a response to that offer. (RA 286-288).

Affidavit of Conlin dated the 20th day of February, 1989, to the effect that he had authority to buy the vehicles for a vehicle dealer in Las Vegas, Nevada, and would have done so, except for the problem encountered by Blackner is unopposed. (RA 467 Affidavit of Conlin).

The Affidavit of David Wilden to the effect that Val J. Conlin had authority to purchase the repossessed vehicles for resale in Las Vegas, Nevada, is unopposed. (RA 470 Affidavit of Wilden).

Notwithstanding the Affidavits of Conlin, Wilden, Egbert, Blackner, and Weiss, the trial court granted plaintiff's Second Motion for Summary Judgment on the issue of liability on the basis that there was no genuine issue as to any material fact regarding liability. Included in this judgment of liability is a statement that the remaining issue on damages would be determined by Affidavits or hearing. (RA 474-476 Judgment on Liability).

Defendants were notified by telephone on March 1, 1989, that the trial court had granted plaintiff's Second Motion for Summary Judgment. Defendants subsequently received a copy of the unsigned Final Judgment of Liability on March 6, 1989.

On March 13, 1989, Brad Willis, Judge Brian's Clerk, telephoned and arranged for a telephone conference with counsel for plaintiff and defendants. On March 14, 1989, Judge Brian by telephone conference stated the issue of damages would be determined by Affidavits and Memorandums to be submitted by plaintiff and defendants simultaneously. The parties were given two (2) weeks to file Affidavits and Memorandum of damages.

At the direction of the trial court, defendants Okudas and Conlins submitted the second Affidavit of Val J. Conlin which was directed primarily at the issue of damages. (RA 488 Affidavit of Conlin dated March 18, 1989). However, by Memorandum, defendants contended that the plaintiff may have avoided all damages if plaintiff had diligently pursued the Egbert offer to assume or purchase the vehicles while the vehicles were still at the American International lot, and before repossession had taken place.

Consequently, the defendants contended that, depending upon the facts proven in this case, plaintiff may have been made whole on the transaction with defendants had plaintiff pursued the Egbert offer to purchase or assume the lease. (RA 492-498 Defendants' Memorandum dated March 31, 1989).

On April 25, 1989, Brad Willis again arranged for a telephone conference with the trial court, counsel for Plaintiff, and counsel for Defendants. On April 26, 1989, Judge Brian stated, by telephone conference, his decision on the issue of damages.

The Final Judgment on liability and damages was received by counsel for defendants Conlins and Okudas on May 1, 1989, although the judgment was dated May 4, 1989. (RA 544 Final Judgment dated May 4, 1989).

As part of the judgment, plaintiff was awarded attorneys' fees of \$13,500.00 based on an Affidavit of Brett F. Wood dated April 21, 1989. (RA 551). The Affidavit, paragraph 10, lists the hours expended by the respective attorneys but does not state what rate was charged by each of the four (4) attorneys. (RA 526-530).

Defendants Okuda and Conlin objected to the adequacy of the Affidavit for Attorney's Fees and moved to strike the Affidavit for failure to comply with Rule 4-505(1), Utah Code of Judicial Administration, pertaining to the hourly rate charged and the reasonableness of that rate. (RA 531).

The trial court ruled that the Affidavit was adequate and awarded the sum of \$13,500.00 as attorney's fees. (RA 544-552 Final Judgment dated May 4, 1989).

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

1. The trial court erred in granting summary judgment on liability because there was an unresolved issue of fact as to whether the transaction sued upon was a lease or a security agreement.

2. The trial court erred in granting summary judgment because there remained an unresolved issue of fact as to whether the vehicles were disposed of in a commercially reasonable manner as required by Section 70A-9-504(3), Utah Code Annotated, 1953, as amended.

3. The trial court erred in granting summary judgment because there remained an unresolved issue of fact on the commercially reasonable disposition of the vehicles as required by the terms of the agreements.

4. The trial court erred in granting summary judgment because there remained an unresolved issue of fact as to whether plaintiff failed to mitigate its damages. If plaintiff failed to mitigate its damages;

a) was plaintiff entitled to recover any damages?

b) if plaintiff was entitled to recover some damages, what amount of damages was plaintiff entitled to?

5. The trial court erred in granting summary judgment because there remained an unresolved issue of fact as to the impairment of the collateral by plaintiff.

6. The trial court erred in directing the parties to submit the issues of damages and attorneys' fees on affidavit

without trial or hearing because it deprives defendants of their right to trial on those issues. Furthermore, the trial court's order that the affidavit and memorandum on damages be submitted simultaneously denies defendants their right to due process because it places upon defendants, a burden of disproving damages before plaintiff carries its burden to prove damages and attorneys' fees.

7. The trial court erred in denying defendants' motion to strike plaintiff's affidavit of attorneys' fees because the affidavit did not state the hourly rate of the attorneys participating in behalf of plaintiff as required by Rule 4-505(1), Utah Code of Judicial Administration. Defendants contend that without disclosure of the hourly rate at which attorneys' fees are sought or awarded, defendants are unable to challenge the reasonableness of the fees requested.

ARGUMENT

POINT I. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN GRANTING SUMMARY JUDGMENT ON LIABILITY BECAUSE THERE REMAINED AN ISSUE OF FACT AS TO WHETHER THE TRANSACTION SUE UPON WAS A LEASE AGREEMENT OR A SECURITY AGREEMENT.

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