1989

LMV Leasing Inc. v. Roy W. Mallory, Val Conlin, Barbara Conlin, Tubber T. Okuda, Mary Y. Okuda : Brief of Respondent

Utah Court of Appeals

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

Plaintiff's position is supported by the recent case of Security State Bank v. Broadhead, 734 P.2d 469 (Utah 1987). In Security State Bank, a bank repossessed a truck held as a purchase money security interest and sold the truck from a used car lot without newspaper or other public advertisement. Id. at 470-72. The debtor sought reversal of a deficiency judgment obtained against him, arguing, inter alia, that the sale of the truck through a used car lot without newspaper advertisement was commercially unreasonable as a matter of law. Rejecting this claim, the Utah Supreme Court stated:

Debtor insists that the sale was unreasonable as a matter of law because bank did not solicit bids through newspaper advertisement and received three bids on the truck. In support of his argument, debtor cites FMA Financial Corp. v. Pro-Printers, 590 P.2d 803 (Utah 1979). Debtor's reliance on FMA Financial Corp. is misplaced. In that case, we merely commented that the creditor's failure to advertise the sale and its casual bid procedures were evidence that it had not

met its burden of establishing commercial reasonableness. Id. at 807. Whether a sale is commercially reasonable is a matter to be determined on a case-by-case basis according to the circumstances of the sale and the business context in which it occurred. Scharf, 700 P.2d at 1070-71. In this case, bank presented expert testimony indicating that selling repossessed vehicles through a used car lot was in conformity with usual commercial practice. The commercial reasonableness of the sale is also evidenced by the fact that debtor's own expert witnesses admitted that it is rare to recover substantially more than Blue Book value for a repossessed vehicle.

Id. at 472 (emphasis added). Although the present case is procedurally different, LMV supports its contention of a commercially reasonable sale by affidavit specifically stating that "[i]t is not unusual in the fleet vehicle leasing industry to sell repossessed vehicles through a used car dealership by . . . by selling them in the same manner and fashion as the other used cars on the lot." (Record, at 508-09). The affiant of the above statement attests that he is "familiar with the underlying concepts and methods utilized in the disposition of used cars" (Record, at 511). Defendants do not oppose these affidavits or produce any affidavits stating that it was the usual practice to sell repossessed vehicles on used car lots by newspaper advertisement. Rather, Defendants, in their brief, attempt to establish a requirement to advertise as a matter of law, using the Pioneer Dodge case as support. (See Defendants' Brief, at 21, 33). Security State Bank clearly refutes such an absolute legal

requirement. Since there is no legal requirement, the only question is whether Defendants have raised in their affidavits a factual issue as to the need to advertise by newspaper. Since they failed to do this, summary judgment was appropriate.¹

Defendants also claim that they were "prevented from bidding on the vehicles." (Defendants' Brief, at 22). However, the affidavit of Val Conlin, dated March 18, 1989, states that he "was personally familiar with conditions and mileage of each of the cars being leased from LMV Leasing." (Record, at 489). Conlin also states that he "would have purchased all of the vehicles repossessed." (Record, at 489). However, nowhere in Conlin's affidavits or in Ivar Blackner's affidavit is there any affirmative statement indicating any communication of, or attempt to communicate, a bid or offer subject to the condition of an inspection. Furthermore, it is strange that Conlin required such an inspection prior to communicating a conditional bid or offer to LMV because Conlin states that he had "personal knowledge" of the condition and mileage of each of the cars and "would have"

¹ Defendants cite also as support the case of Haggis Management, Inc. v. Turtle Management, Inc., 745 P.2d 442 (Utah 1985). However, Haggis is inapposite because it involved the private sale of a restaurant and liquor store without public advertisement. Private sale of such unique collateral without auction, public bidding or advertisement seems commercially unreasonable, unlike the common sales of used cars where there are established markets for resale and where sales prices are governed by objective pricing criteria.

purchased them. Rather, Defendants would impose an impossible standard on lessors trying to mitigate damages by requiring them to read the minds of prospective bidders who have failed to communicate their definite intentions to bid after adequate notice of sale. Therefore, summary judgment was appropriate because Conlin and Blackner failed, on the face of their affidavits, to communicate any bid or offer.

C. Plaintiff Obtained A Reasonable Price For The Sale Of The Repossessed Vehicles.

Section 70A-9-507(2), Utah Code Ann. (1953) states that:

The fact that a better price could have been obtained by a sale at a different time or in a different method from that selected by the secured party is not of itself sufficient to establish that the sale was not made in a commercially reasonable manner.

Pursuant to the Lease, LMV repossessed the vehicles and prepared them for sale. In an attempt to increase the amount of potential proceeds from their sale, LMV sold the vehicles through a used car lot rather than auctioning them off to a used car dealer. (Record, at 326). The net proceeds from their sale totalled approximately ninety-nine percent (99%) of their combined wholesale value, based on the vehicles' wholesale value listed in Automotive Market Research, a weekly nationwide publication used by the fleet vehicle leasing industry to determine wholesale prices of automobiles. (Record, at 326). Defendants do not attempt to show by counter-affidavit that these prices were unreasonable.

Furthermore, Defendants' claim, that Conlin would have purchased the vehicles for sums substantially in excess of the prices received by LMV, is irrelevant because that intention was never communicated to LMV. Therefore, Defendants have failed to counter LMV's affidavits showing that the sales price was commercially reasonable and summary judgment was appropriate.

POINT III: THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY RULED ON THE ISSUE OF DAMAGES BECAUSE THE DEFENDANTS' AFFIDAVITS DO NOT RAISE ANY GENUINE ISSUE OF MATERIAL FACT SUFFICIENT TO OPPOSE A FINDING THAT THE VEHICLES WERE SOLD IN A COMMERCIALLY REASONABLE MANNER UNDER THE CONTRACT.

LMV asserts that the sale of the repossessed vehicles was also commercially reasonable as required under the Lease terms. However, the Defendants' brief assumes that the Lease requirement of a commercially reasonable sale "requires the same tests of commercial reasonableness that is required by the Uniform Commercial Code." (Defendants' Brief, at 23). Since Defendants raise no new arguments and adopt the arguments and citations advanced under their brief's previous heading, LMV adopts those arguments and citations found in Point II of LMV's brief relating to the requirements of a commercially reasonable sale under the U.C.C.

POINT IV: THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY RULED ON THE ISSUE OF DAMAGES BECAUSE THE DEFENDANTS DID NOT PROPERLY RAISE THE ISSUE OF IMPAIRMENT OF COLLATERAL BEFORE THE TRIAL COURT.

Defendants raise four contentions with respect to their argument that LMV was estopped from seeking recovery because of impairment of the collateral: (1) that LMV ignored the December 1987 offer of Alma D. Egbert; (2) that LMV permitted Roy Mallory and Alma D. Egbert to use the vehicles for rentals from December 1987 until March 1988; (3) that, after repossessing the cars, LMV failed to advertise the vehicles for sale; and (4) that LMV refused to permit Defendants to inspect the vehicles. (Defendants' Brief, at 23).

LMV submits that all four contentions fail to raise issues of material fact going to the issue of impairment of collateral. The case authority cited by Defendants, Valley Bank & Trust Co. v. Rite Way Concrete Forming, Inc., 742 P.2d 105 (Utah Ct. App. 1987), speaks of a fiduciary relationship arising between a creditor and guarantor and that a guarantor may be partially or wholly discharged from liability "where a creditor's actions impair the value of collateral in its possession" Id. at 108 (emphasis added). Since questions of ignoring offers, failing to advertise, and refusing permission to inspect do not actually affect the value of the collateral, but arguably go instead to the reasonable disposition of collateral, the first, third, and fourth contentions

should be dismissed. Furthermore, the first and second contentions should be dismissed because the cars, prior to their repossession in March, 1987 (Defendants' Brief, at 10), were not in the possession of the creditor, as required in Valley Bank, thus giving rise to no fiduciary duties.

In addition to the above reasons, the issue of impairment of collateral should be dismissed because Defendants base their theory on a right of subrogation, a right that the Defendants' case authority concedes does not even arise until payment of the guaranteed obligation by the guarantor. (See Defendants' Brief, at 24-25). Since the defendants/guarantors in this case never made payment of the guaranteed obligation, no right of subrogation ever arose, and therefore no concurrent fiduciary duty arose.

Finally, in addition to all the above reasons, Defendants' argument that an estoppel arose based on impairment of the collateral should be rejected because this issue was never appropriately raised at the trial court. None of the Defendants' memoranda in opposition to the Plaintiff's motions for summary judgment specifically raised the issue now raised as to impairment of collateral. Matters not presented to the trial court may not be raised for the first time on appeal. Salt Lake City Corp. v. James Constructors, Inc., 761 P.2d 42, 46 (Utah Ct. App. 1988) (quoting Franklin Financial v. New Empire Dev. Co., 659 P.2d 1040, 1044 (Utah 1983)).

Furthermore, Defendants' second amended answer, which Defendants cite for having raised the issue, is not a verified pleading. (Defendants' Brief, at 23; Record, at 367-75). Under Utah case law, an unverified pleading will not substitute for an affidavit and therefore will not preclude summary judgment. See, e.g., Pentecost v. Harward, 699 P.2d 696, 698 (Utah 1985). For all of the above reasons, Defendants' argument that an estoppel arose because of Plaintiff's impairment of the collateral should be rejected.

POINT V: THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY DECIDED THE ISSUE OF DAMAGES BECAUSE THE DEFENDANTS' AFFIDAVITS DO NOT RAISE ANY GENUINE ISSUES OF MATERIAL FACT AS TO WHETHER THERE WAS MITIGATION OF DAMAGES.

It is well established that a non-breaching party to a contract is obligated to take reasonable steps to mitigate his damages. Pratt v. Board of Educ., 564 P.2d 294, 298 (Utah 1977).

Defendants assert that LMV failed to mitigate its damages by supposedly rejecting an offer made by Alma D. Egbert ("Egbert") to purchase the leased vehicles or assume the Lease from MCO. In support of this contention, an affidavit of Egbert was filed stating that he contacted LMV and "communicated his interest in purchasing the vehicles or in making other arrangements with LMV" regarding the Lease. (Record, at 284). In addition, an affidavit of Loren E. Weiss ("Weiss") was filed, stating that Weiss informed LMV's counsel that Egbert was "willing to assume the leases or purchase the vehicles from LMV." (Record, at 287). Defendants rely

on these vague contentions in the affidavits to form the basis for their defense that LMV rejected Egbert's "offer" which could have totally mitigated LMV's damages.

The Utah Supreme Court, in Pratt, held that "[m]itigation of damages is an affirmative defense. Although plaintiff is obligated to minimize his damages, the burden is upon the party whose wrongful act caused the damages to prove anything in diminution thereof." 564 P.2d at 298. Defendants have the burden of alleging facts sufficient to raise an issue as to whether there as an "offer" made by Egbert which would have substantially or totally mitigated LMV's damages as they claim it would.

Defendants fail to raise a material issue in their affidavits. First, Egbert's affidavit only attests to having communicated an "interest" in purchasing the car or assuming the Lease. There is no affirmative language in the affidavit asserting facts establishing an offer. There is only conclusory language in Paragraph 6 of the Egbert Affidavit that there was no "response to his offer and inquiry." (Record, at 284). The Utah Supreme Court has held that conclusory statements are insufficient to create a genuine issue of fact. Reagan Outdoor Advertising Inc. v. Lundgren, 692 P.2d 776, 779 (Utah 1984). The mere conclusion in an affidavit that there was an offer, without alleging facts sufficient to conclude that some kind of offer was made, is insufficient and should not preclude summary judgment. Merely

communicating an "interest" in the vehicles does not allege facts sufficient to establish an offer. Second, neither Egbert's nor Weiss' affidavit contain any terms of an alleged "offer" to purchase vehicles or assume the Lease, the price Egbert was willing to pay for the vehicles, or how this "offer" would mitigate Plaintiff's damages. In short, nothing is presented that raises any genuine issues of material fact regarding how LMV could have mitigated its damages.

Furthermore, it is impossible for the Court, based upon the lack of material facts presented by Defendants, to determine whether an "offer" by Egbert to buy the vehicles or assume the Lease with LMV could have substantially or totally mitigated LMV's damages as Defendants contend.

Similar deficiencies lie in the affidavits of Conlin and Blackner. In Conlin's affidavit of March 18, 1989, Conlin represents that he "was personally familiar with conditions and mileage of each of the cars being leased from LMV Leasing." (Record, at 489). He also asserts that he "would have purchased all of the vehicles repossessed" (Record, at 489). However, in neither Conlin's affidavits nor in Blackner's affidavit is there any fact alleged as to any attempt to communicate any offer or bid, oral or written, to LMV personnel. Blackner's affidavit says that he was denied access to the used car lot by Nate Wade Subaru personnel but does not allege any specific facts beyond the

personal conclusion that he was denied access. (Record, at 393-94). The affidavit does not state the reason he was denied access, the dates on which he attempted to see the cars, or whether the cars at that moment were being held out for sale to the public. However, in light of the fact that Conlin was already "personally familiar with [the] conditions and mileage of each of the cars" and "would have purchased" them, it is strange that he did not simply make an offer subject to the condition of an inspection. Defendants hold LMV to the impossible standard of having to decipher the minds of potential bidders despite the fact that no prospective or conditional bids or offers were made.

Finally, Defendants' Comparison Sheet, attached as an exhibit to their Memorandum of Damages (Record, at 498), comparing the prices at which LMV actually sold the vehicles to the average price of the Kelly Blue Book Retail and the Kelly Blue Book Wholesale, is misleading. Defendants compare the net sales proceeds of each car which LMV obtained to the gross sales price in the Kelly Blue Book average. (See Record, at 498). Even if most of the sales costs could be reduced by selling to Conlin, this factual issue is irrelevant where Defendants failed to communicate such bid or offer to LMV.

Therefore, the trial court's decision that no genuine issues of material fact remained on the issue of mitigation of damages should be affirmed.

POINT VI: THE DEFENDANTS WAIVED THEIR RIGHT TO OBJECT TO THE TRIAL COURT'S DECISION ON DAMAGES BY AFFIDAVIT WHEN THEY FAILED TO OBJECT AT THE TIME OF FILING THEIR MEMORANDUM ON DAMAGES OR AT ANY TIME UPON THE RECORD.

The Defendants' brief concedes that "[o]n March 14, 1989, Judge Brian by telephone conference stated the issue of damages would be determined by Affidavits and Memorandums to be submitted by plaintiff and defendants simultaneously." (Defendant's Brief, at 13). Nowhere in their brief do Defendants state that they objected to this procedure at the time of the telephone conference, nor do they cite any objection filed with the Court or entered at any time on the record. Defendants, however, do assert that they "did not agree or stipulate to this procedure nor were the parties asked if this procedure was acceptable." (Defendants' Brief, at 30). By this statement, the Defendants wish to place the burden of identifying error on the trial judge.

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